FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/21/2020 8:00 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/21/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98189-2 Court of Appeals No. 51576-8-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Estate of

GERALD W. IRWIN

BARBARA A. KELLEY, Petitioner,

v.

BARBARA IRWIN, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo Bauer Pitman Snyder Huff Lifetime Legal, PLLC 1235 4th Ave E #200 Olympia, WA 98506 (360) 754-1976 dpm@lifetime.legal

Attorney for Petitioner

1. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner Barbara Kelley ("Kelley") asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section 2.

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Thurston County Superior Court ruled, on equitable grounds, that RCW 11.12.070 should be interpreted so that as between devised life estate holders and fee simple owners, the former should pay debt on property secured by a mortgage, when the Will at issue is silent on the issue. Division 2 of the Court of Appeals, on October 22, 2019, affirmed, without oral argument, providing alternative reasoning, in *In re Estate of Irwin*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 924, 450 P.3d 663 (2019). Reconsideration was denied on January 22, 2020.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED

3.1. As a matter of substantial public importance under RAP 13(b)(4), whether RCW 11.12.070 should be interpreted so that as between specifically devised life estate holders and specifically devised fee simple owners, the latter should pay principal debt on property secured by a mortgage? Yes.

3.2. Whether, under RAP 13(b)(1), RAP 13(b)(2), RAP 13(b)(4) the ambiguity in RCW 11.12.070, as to who pays mortgage debt when property is specifically devised to life estate holders and specifically devised to fee simple owners, should be resolved by following the common law? Yes.

3.3. Whether, under RAP 13(b)(1), RAP 13(b)(2), and RAP 13(b)(4) the ambiguity in RCW 11.12.070, as to who pays mortgage debt when property is specifically devised to life estate holders and specifically

devised to fee simple owners, should be resolved by analyzing legislative history? Yes.

3.4. Whether, under RAP 13(b)(1), RAP 13(b)(2), and RAP 13(b)(4) the published decision erred in interpreting precedent by creating (or mistakenly recognizing common) law unique to Washington State and requiring life estate holders to pay principal debt on property secured by a mortgage, rather than specifically devised fee simple owners, when a Will is silent on the issue? Yes.

3.5. Whether, under RAP 13(b)(1), RAP 13(b)(2), RAP 13(b)(4) the published decision erred by not following precedent requiring the Will at issue be construed as a whole? Yes.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

4.1. Decedent ("Mr. Irwin") died owning real property subject to

a mortgage. In his Will, he named Kelley as his personal representative, to

serve without bond and with nonintervention powers. (CP at 1).

4.2. Mr. Irwin made a bequest, which granted Kelley a life tenancy

only requiring that she pay the taxes and insurance on the property:

I give a life estate in the property located at 5109 58th Avenue, Olympia, Washington to BARBARA A. KELLEY provided she pays the taxes and insurance on the property.

(CP at 3).

4.3. The only other beneficiaries of the estate, per the Will, were Respondents ("Mr. Irwin Jr.") and ("Ms. Irwin"), who each take fifty-percent of all remaining interests in the estate. (CP at 3).

4.4. Kelley was appointed personal representative by the trial court. (CP at 33). Subsequently, Ms. Irwin filed a petition to remove Kelley

as personal representative. (CP at 6-7). Relevant to this appeal, Ms. Irwin claimed that, under RCW 11.12.070, Kelley was personally required to pay the monthly mortgage payment on the real property. (CP at 10).

4.5. Kelley responded that as a life tenant, she was not personally required to pay the monthly mortgage payment on the real property; rather, the remaindermen devisees that owned the property in fee simple had the responsibility to pay the mortgage. (CP at 16-17, 27-31, 47-51; RP (October 12, 2017) at 7-15; RP (February 9, 2018) at 21-29, 31-33). Kelley pointed out that Mr. Irwin's intent, as stated in the Will, was that she should only pay the taxes and insurance on the property. (CP at 16-17, 27-31, 47-51; RP (October 12, 2017) at 7-15; RP (February 9, 2018) at 21-29, 31-33).

4.6. The trial court ruled in favor of Ms. Irwin. (CP at 33-35, 56-57). The commissioner reasoned that "the will does not explain who should pay the mortgage" and that it was "fair that Kelley pay the mortgage for only the portion of time which she enjoys the benefits of the life tenancy." (CP at 35).

4.7. Kelley argued on appeal that statutory interpretation, legislative history, and the common law all mandated that she should not pay the property's principal debt secured by the mortgage. The Irwins responded that the common law was modified, and that Kelley should pay all of the mortgage payments.

3

4.8. The Court of Appeals, in its published decision, without oral argument, affirmed on alternative grounds and held that there is a unique Washington common law requiring the life tenants to pay all principal debt payments, secured by a mortgage, as well as all carrying costs, such as mortgage interest, taxes, and all expenses to maintain the property. Reconsideration was denied.

4.9. No other court in this nation as far as undersigned counsel can tell has ever made the same holding. Every state's caselaw mentioning this issue sides with Kelley, as do citations in treatises and hornbooks. The published decision stands apart from any decision in the entire nation.

5. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

5.1. <u>As a Matter of Substantial Public Importance, Review</u> <u>Should be Accepted Because RCW 11.12.070 Should Be</u> <u>Interpreted So that Remaindermen Pay the Principal Debt on</u> <u>Property Secured by a Mortgage Over Life Tenants When</u> <u>Such Property is Specifically Devised to Both.</u>

The facts of this case are typical of many elderly fixed income couples' estate planning. This Court should grant review because the issue at hand will adversely affect thousands of Wills already executed in this state. Attorneys and residents not aware of the decision will continue to be adversely affected. The published decision has the potential to adversely affect every property owner in this state desiring, at the time of their passing, to provide for their significant other as well as their children. Elderly residents on fixed incomes are the most likely to be harmed. Thus, this case presents an issue of substantial public importance.

An illustrative example is warranted. In this example, near exactly the same as the facts at hand, a couple meets later in life. They are elderly with biological, adopted, or stepchildren from different significant others. For many reasons—whether it be financial, maintaining retirement benefits, or countless others—they do not get married, or maybe they do and the property at issue remains separate property for whatever reason. The couple lives together in the property. For love, convenience, to pay bills, and/or to consolidate their assets and generate/preserve preciously rare income later in life, one person moves in with the other. The person moving into the property with the other sells his or her other home.

The residence in which they then both live in together typically has some debt secured by a mortgage, but such debt is paid down and there is substantial equity in the home. The couple wishes to provide for each other after passing, but also desires to provide for their children from previous relationship(s). The children may not connect with the new significant other as there is no blood/biological relationship and/or because they see a threat to "their" inheritance.

When meeting with an estate planning attorney, the titled owner of the home, after consultation, decides to devise the residence to his or her children in fee simple, but reserves for his or her surviving partner a life estate. *This is a common, near perfect, inexpensive, equitable solution that fairly balances the interests and needs of the surviving significant other and that of the decedent's children.*

The estate planning attorney utilizes the common devise of "I give Blackacre to 'A' in fee simple, reserving a life estate in the life of 'B'." This allows the surviving significant other to continue living in their home and maintain the status quo for the remaindermen, paying typically de minimis upkeep, living expenses, and the interest¹ on any mortgage debt. It also creates a situation where the decedent's children will eventually take possession of the home. But for the time being, the surviving significant other is free from interference from such children that he or she may not get along with, during his or her life. He or she can preserve liquid resources to live off in retirement without paying for the purchase price of the home.

This is why the common law—in every state in this nation—has always provided *life tenants merely maintain the status quo and preserve the property*, while the *remaindermen pay for and accumulate equity in the property*, when a Will does not say otherwise. This prevents the (typically) older surviving significant other from being burdened by the debt used to

¹ Because of amortization schedules front ending mortgage interest payments, interest payments on mortgage debt are typically lower and lower as the payment period nears completion.

purchase the property, as he or she is only required to pay upkeep, living expenses, taxes, and any interest on the mortgage. The (typically) younger children who are fee simple owners gain equity in the property as debt is paid off and benefit from the value of property typically increasing over time via market, and (anti-sprawl) regulatory, influences.

In sum, while these children must pay the principal debt on the property, secured by the mortgage, such children eventually obtain all of the equity in the property for a substantial discount. Thus, the children's inheritance is preserved while the surviving significant other's gift of possession of the home, free of principal mortgage debt is effectuated.

But the Court of Appeals decision disregards these bedrock principles regarding freehold estates, disregards universal common law, confuses estate planning attorneys, confuses the public at large, impacts thousands of already executed Wills drafted to take into account the common law, and in doing so substantially harms the public interest, especially the elderly often on fixed incomes. In its interpretation of a clearly ambiguous statute, and of a unique Will that mistakenly did not name the specifically devised remaindermen, the decision turns the common law known to attorneys and the public at large on its head by mandating life estate holders pay all debt on property secured by a mortgage. It is an extraordinary holding that is harmful to the public interest. Undersigned counsel can find no case in this entire nation, or any treatise citing to caselaw, where the common law has ever required a life tenant to pay the principal mortgage debt if the Will did not direct so. Public policy reasons support this Court granting review.

5.2. <u>The Published Decision Fails to Acknowledge that RCW</u> <u>11.12.070 is Ambiguous, Fails to Clearly Modify the</u> <u>Common Law Universal to All States in this Nation, and</u> <u>Fails to Apply Such Common Law. This Court Should</u> <u>Accept Review.</u>

Property interests are commonly, and metaphorically, described as a "bundle of sticks." Some properties have more interests, *i.e.*, "sticks," than others, and that number may change over time as property is devised from one person or entity to another. However, one stick—the fee simple ownership interest—is the most important interest, *i.e.*, "stick," of all. *Bartlett v. Bartlett*, 183 Wash. 278, 282, 48 P.2d 560, 562 (1935) (holding a fee simple estate is the highest estate known to the law, being an absolute one). The fee simple interest always exists, and it is always the first interest to pass to the new owner when all the interests of a property are devised. 31 C.J.S Estates § 11 ("The fee never stands in abeyance; it must always rest in someone.") (citing *e.g.*, *McTamney v. McTamney*, 138 N.J. Eq. 28, 31, 46 A.2d 444, 446 (1946)). These fee simple concepts are bedrock principles.

Another bedrock, never changing, principle with respect to freehold estates, is that a life estate is an interest in property "whose duration is limited to the life of the party holding it, or some other person." 31 C.J.S. Estates § 35. Importantly, "There can be no life estate in property without a remainder" fee simple interest. 31 C.J.S. Estates § 35 (citing *e.g.*, *Benson v*. *Greenville Nat'l Exchange Bank*, 253 S.W.2d 918, 922 (1952)).

Thus, creating a life estate properly involves some variation of the following language, specifically naming the fee simple remaindermen and specifically naming the life tenant.

"I give Blackacre to 'A' in fee simple, reserving a life estate in the life of 'B'."

Under the common law, universal to all states in this nation, a life tenant is not required to pay the principle debt on real property secured by a mortgage. *See e.g., Draper v. Sewell*, 263 Ala. 250, 253, 82 So. 2d 303, 306 (1955) (holding life estate holder has no obligation to pay the principle debt of a mortgage); *Tyler v. Bier*, 88 Ore. 430, 434, 172 P. 112, 113 (1918); *Currier v. Teske*, 93 Neb. 7, 13, 139 N.W. 622, 624 (1913).

Furthermore, when statutes are a "derogation of the common law," they "must be strictly construed and no intent to change that law will be found, unless it appears with clarity." *McNeal v. Allen*, 95 Wn.2d 265, 269, 621 P.2d 1285, 1288 (1980); *Cooper v. Runnels*, 48 Wn.2d 108, 112, 291 P.2d 657, 659 (1955).

Last, RCW 11.12.070 states the following in pertinent part:

When any real or personal property subject to a mortgage is specifically devised, the devisee shall take such property so devised subject to such mortgage unless the will provides that such mortgage be otherwise paid.

Here, under the example quoted above, "A" is specifically devised the fee simple interest in "Blackacre," and "B" is specifically devised a life estate. Both interest holders are specific devisees. Under RCW 11.12.070 which specific devisee is mandated to pay the debt secured by the mortgage? The obvious answer is that RCW 11.12.070 is ambiguous.

The published opinion states that "Kelley does not provide any convincing authority for her claim that a party receiving a life estate cannot be considered a devisee simply because she is not a fee simple owner of the property." (Published Opinion at 5). But Kelley did not advance the argument quoted above. She did not claim that she was not a "devisee." Kelley's argument was—when construing the substance, not form, of the Will—that *both she and the Irwins were specific devisees*, and that RCW 11.12.070 is plainly ambiguous as to which specific devisee "is responsible for the mortgage. . . ." (*e.g.*, Reply Brief at 13). Given that RCW 11.12.070 does not clearly modify the common law that remaindermen pay debt secured by a mortgage—the common law should prevail in this case. Public policy reasons and the fact the published decision is contrary to precedent support this Court granting review.

5.3. <u>The Published Decision Does Not Analyze Legislative</u> <u>History, Contrary to Precedent, When a Statute is</u> <u>Ambiguous. This Court Should Accept Review.</u>

The "primary duty" of a court interpreting a statute "is to ascertain and give effect to the intent and purpose of the Legislature." *Harmon v. DSHS*, 134 Wn.2d 523, 530, 951 P.2d 770, 773 (1998). Courts use "legislative history" as well as "other statutes" when "statutory language is ambiguous" in "order to discern legislative intent." *Id.*

Here, the statute is clearly ambiguous as to the issue at hand. Yet the published decision astonishingly cast aside considering legislative history of RCW 11.12.070 *at all*, succinctly stating "Kelley also relies on *In re Cloninger's Estate*, 8 Wn.2d 348, 112 P.2d 139 (1941), but that court addressed statutory language not at issue here." (Published Opinion at 6). Apparently, the Court of Appeals found the legislative history—of the very statute at issue—not relevant. This Court should accept review because when a statute changes, and an ambiguity is created, case precedent makes it paramount to decern the legislative purpose.

In the case of RCW 11.12.070, no caselaw in Washington exists where it was argued, let alone held, that any version of RCW 11.12.070 required life tenant devisees pay mortgages. Notably, however, just before the current 1955 version of RCW 11.12.070 was enacted, this Court decided *Cloninger*, a case all about fee simple devisees and nothing to do with life

estates. There, the decedent's Will devised real property to his daughter in fee simple. The rest of the estate went to his wife. The real property was encumbered by a mortgage. The daughter argued that the estate's personal assets and residue must pay the mortgage. The wife argued that the daughter took the property subject to the mortgage. The court concluded that the 1860 to 1954 version of the statute was a derogation of the common law because it was not clear that the common law rule, *i.e.*, fee simple devisees not being required to pay mortgages, was or was not modified. *Cloninger*, 8 Wn.2d at 350-351. The words "previously executed" muddied the statute enough so that any change in the common law could not be clearly found.

This Court's holding in *Cloninger* stands for the rule of law that unless RCW 11.12.070 clearly expresses the intent to modify the common law, the common law prevails. More precisely, the most recent 1955 change to RCW 11.12.070 had a single purpose. The legislature intended to modify the common law rule upheld in *Cloninger*, which presumed fee simple devisees took property free of mortgages, in favor of a modern trend²

² "The common-law rule has been modified, however, in a number of states -- some statutes going so far as to establish a converse rule: That, in the absence of an expression of intention by the testator to the contrary, *it will be presumed that he intended the [fee simple] devisee to take the property subject to the encumbrance.*" *Cloninger*, 8 Wn.2d at 350 (emphasis added). *Cloninger* is clearly relevant to this case at hand, and RCW 11.12.070, because it recognized a modern trend that fee simple devisees take devised property subject to encumbrances, such as mortgages. That modern trend was clearly codified by the legislature in the current version of RCW 11.12.070; the legislature's intent and purpose was to make fee simple devisees pay mortgages, so as to supersede *Cloninger* by statute. Nothing suggests that the intent was to make life tenants do so.

occurring at the time that presumed the opposite. See id. at 350.

The statutory change fixed the inequity of making beneficiaries pay mortgages on property when (a) such property was not actually devised to them in fee simple, and when (b), as a result, such beneficiaries would never be entitled to any of the equity in the property. Reading RCW 11.12.070, reading this Court's decision in *Cloninger*, and recognizing their obvious close temporal proximity, as well as the modern trend at the time, makes this plain. There was no intention or purpose expressed in the statute, or in *Cloninger*, towards changing the common law rule that life tenants do not pay principal balances on mortgages.

A new law, or legislative history, meant to eviscerate testamentary gifts of possession, *i.e.*, mandating life tenants pay principal debts on real property secured by mortgages, and upending bedrock principles regarding freehold estates and life tenancies, would have made mention of such radical purposes. The fact that no appellate case nor any legislative history on RCW 11.12.070—for the past 150 years—mentions life tenant devisees at all, let alone being mandated to pay mortgages under the statute, is illuminating.

Perhaps the most important point being that it would be a strained consequence to believe that the legislature intended to fix one inequitable result, *i.e.*, beneficiaries paying for property in which they would never have

any claim of equity—just to create the nearly identical inequitable result of the same sort—*i.e.*, making life tenants pay for property in which they too would never have any equity.

This Court should accept review so that the paramount function of determining legislative purpose, *e.g.*, through analyzing legislative history, is not so lightly disregarded in the future, as it was in this case.

5.4. <u>Washington State Has No Unique Common Law as to Life</u> <u>Tenants and Mortgage Payments and this Court Should</u> <u>Accept Review to Correct the Published Decision's</u> Erroneous Statement of Law Otherwise.

Pursuant to RCW 4.04.010, "The common law, so far as it is not inconsistent with the ... laws ... of the state of Washington ... shall be the rule of decision in all the courts of this state." This Court recognized the common law at issue in this case in *In re Brooks' Estate*, 44 Wn.2d 96, 98, 265 P.2d 833 (1954) (holding life tenants pay "*current expenses such as taxes, repairs, and other upkeep*. . . .") (quoting *Richardson v. McCloskey*, 276 S.W. 680, 685 (Tex. Com. App. 1925)). Division 1 further recognized the same common law in *In re Estate of Campbell*, 87 Wn. App. 506, 513, 942 P.2d 1008 (1997) (stating "[carrying] costs of maintaining life estate property" can be charged to the life tenant).

The question of whether "current expenses such as taxes, repairs, and other upkeep" paid by life tenants includes payments on principal mortgage balances is easily answered by reading the cases that *Brooks' Estate* cites. For example, the Texas case *Richardson* (cited *Brooks' Estate*) explicitly cited four cases, from three states, that all follow the rule that life tenants do not pay principal balance on debt secured by a mortgage. *Richardson*, 276 S.W. at 685 (citing cases from states all following the (only) common law rule that life tenants do not pay the principal balance on mortgages). Furthermore, Texas law provides that life tenants do not pay the principal balance on any "existing encumbrance":

A life tenant is charged with the duty of protecting the interest of remaindermen from forfeiture by reason of any act or omission on his part and to preserve the estate in which he holds a life tenancy. In *Brokaw v. Richardson*, 255 S.W. 685, 688 (Tex.Civ.App.-Ft. Worth 1923, no writ history), the court stated that in pursuance of this obligation *a life tenant is required to pay the interest on existing encumbrances*. We think this is correct. Therefore, we hold that appellant is liable for payment of the interest on the indebtedness. *The payments made toward the retirement of any principal would, of course, inure to the benefit of the remaindermen and would not be the obligation of the life tenant*.

Hill v. Hill, 623 S.W.2d 779, 780 (1981) (emphasis added). Thus, how *Richardson*, or in turn *Brooks' Estate*, can be interpreted as holding life tenants pay principal amounts owed on mortgages is not a supportable proposition.

Moreover, Texas law allows life tenants to "compel the remaindermen to contribute their proportion of the [e]ncumberance paid."

Bryson v. Connecticut General Life Ins. Co., 211 S.W.2d 304, 309 (1948).

Clearly, a mortgage is an encumbrance, and the contribution that *Bryson* refers to is when a life tenant is forced to prevent foreclosure—*i.e.*, losing his or her (gifted) place to live—by paying the principal debt on the mortgage for which the remaindermen are duty bound to pay. *See id*.

Here, nevertheless, the published opinion cites as *unique* Washington State common law, "As a general rule, unless the will expressly provides otherwise, 'one who takes a life estate in the property of a decedent elects to take as a whole with the benefits of the income and profits, and under the corresponding burdens of the current expenses such as taxes, repairs, and other upkeep, viewing the estate as a whole."" (internal punctuation altered) (citing *Brooks' Estate*, 44 Wn.2d at 98 (quoting *Richardson*, 276 S.W. 680, 685 (Tex. Com. App. 1925)). The published decision also cited *Campbell*, 87 Wn. App. at 513. Finally, the published decision reasoned that "it would be a 'strained consequence' for the residual devisees to have to pay the mortgage on their own testamentary gift where they do not yet have possessory interest in the property, *particularly in light of the principles articulated* in *Brooks' Estate* and *Estate of Campbell*."

Because the published decision failed to note the dispositive distinction between "carrying charges" or maintenance costs/expenses or

"upkeep" versus capital contributions, and debt incurred, toward the purchase of property, this Court should grant review. The published decision is contrary to this Court's decision in Brooks' Estate. The specific error is that the published decision transforms *Brooks' Estate's* correct and common among all states-statement of law that life tenants pay carrying costs such as "corresponding burdens of the current expenses such as taxes, repairs, and other upkeep" into an incorrect statement of law that Brooks' Estate, itself, in no way states nor stands for: "A life tenant accepts all of the benefits and burdens of the property and those with a remaining interest cannot be made responsible. . . . "3 (Published Decision at 6). The published decision reads words into, or more precisely out of, Brooks' *Estate*'s holding and its pedigree. Those words read out of the decision were "corresponding burdens of the current expenses such as taxes, repairs, and other upkeep." The published decision erred in not recognizing that Brooks' Estate merely spoke of carrying costs, echoing what other state courts have held for 150-plus years.

As to *Campbell*, it is hard to see how that case stands for any proposition other than that life tenants pay "carrying" costs, unless the Will provides otherwise. *See Campbell*, 87 Wn. App. at 513. Since carrying costs

³ Another error is the breadth of the decision. The common law placed equitable financial limits on any and all amounts/obligations paid by a life tenant because life tenants merely preserve, not pay for, the property. The published decision eviscerates that common law.

include interest charges on encumbrances such as mortgages, *Campbell*, read in the context of *Brooks' Estate*, 44 Wn.2d at 98 and its pedigree, supports Kelley's position. In fact, *Campbell* is in accord with every state in this nation's common law on life estates.

Finally, the published decision cites RCW 64.12.020, 17 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: REAL ESTATE § 1.27, at 53 (2d ed. 2004), and *McDowell v. Beckham*, 72 Wash. 224, 232, 130 P. 350 (1913). But neither RCW 64.12.020 nor *McDowell* state that a life tenant not paying the principal debt secured by mortgage is actionable waste. Moreover, while William B. Stoebuck and John W. Weaver do make a passing reference that a life tenant commits waste by not paying "mortgage debt"—*the reference is uncited to any caselaw or secondary authority* and fails to illuminate whether the authors are speaking about mortgage interest debt or principal debt. The authority the authors do cite all supports Kelley's position on appeal.⁴

In sum, this Court's decision *Brooks' Estate* is based on Texas law that supports Kelley's position on appeal. The published decision is directly

⁴ Appendix A to C are selections from treatises by, or cited by, Washington Practice Series. They provide numerous citations to other states, all stating the common law is that life tenants only pay the interest accumulating on mortgage debts. Surely, if it was "common" for the "law" in Washington State to make life tenants pay principle debt amounts secured by mortgages—there would be at least one case that says so. Washington Practice Series fails to cite any such case and as such is not persuasive authority.

averse to this Court's decision. Moreover, *Campbell* focuses on that particular decedent's intent, and whether carrying costs such as taxes—not capital contributions towards the purchase of property—were intended to be paid by a life tenant pursuant to the language of a particular Will. Last, Washington Practice Series provides no citation to any authority contrary to the common law or Kelley's position on appeal.⁵ This Court should accept review to correct the published decision's erroneous interpretation of Supreme Court precedent directly on point.

5.5. <u>The Published Decision Fails to Follow Precedent Mandating</u> that Wills are Construed as a Whole.

Wills must be construed as a whole. *In re Estate of Magee*, 75 Wn.2d 826, 829, 454 P.2d 402, 404 (1969). Here, the published opinion states that "Kelley contends that the Irwins, as residuary fee simple devisees, should be liable for the mortgage." (Published Decision at 3). But Kelley's argument has never been that "residuary" beneficiaries should pay the mortgage. Rather, Kelley's argument is that the Will must be construed as a whole, and that its form not be raised above its substance. Properly construed, the Irwins—as to the real property at issue—are specific devisees by operation of law.

⁵ The published decision also holds that Kelley, as Decedent's long-time partner, "ignores the principle that [Decedent] is presumed to have known the law at the time he executed his will." The published decision then cites RCW 11.12.070, which is plainly ambiguous on this issue and contradicts the common law that Decedent "presumed" was the law.

Stated simply, *before Kelley is specifically devised anything*—the law, and bedrock principles regarding freehold estates, mandate the Irwins' fee simple interest be specifically devised first. *See* 31 C.J.S Estates § 11 (stating "The fee never stands in abeyance; it must always rest in someone") (citing *e.g.*, *McTamney*, 138 N.J. Eq. at 31; *Shufeldt v. Shufeldt*, 130 Wash. 253, 262, 227 P. 6, 9 (1924) (holding "If, when the will goes into effect, there is no contingency . . . as to the person entitled to the remainder . . . then the remainder is vested."). The unartfully, and uniquely, drafted Will merely and mistakenly placed the remainder fee simple specific devise in the residue section of the Will.

6. CONCLUSION

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