FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/20/2020 4:12 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. 98189-2 APPEALS COURT NO. 51576-8-II

In re Estate of

GERALD IRWIN

BARBARA KELLY, Petitioner,

v.

BARBARA IRWIN, Respondent.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mindie Flemins
Burns Law, PLLC
524 Tacoma Ave. S.
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 507-5586
Attorneys for Respondents

March 20, 2020

II. ARGUMENT

2.1 This particular issue has been heard twice by the trial court, and once (plus revision denied) by the Court of Appeal. Great weight should be given to the courts below.

"An appellate court reviews a trial court's findings of fact for substantial evidence in support of the findings. In re Marriage of Schweitzer, 132 Wash.2d 318, 329, 937 P.2d 1062 (1997). Evidence is substantial if it is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the declared premise. Bering v. SHARE, 106 Wash.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 (1986). A reviewing court may not disturb findings of fact supported by substantial evidence even if there is conflicting evidence. In re Marriage of Lutz, 74 Wash.App. 356, 370, 873 P.2d 566 (1994). Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wash.2d 35, 42, 59 P.3d 611 (2002)." Merriman v. Cokeley, 168 Wn.2d 627, 631, 230 P.3d 162, 164 (2010). Appellate tribunals "are not entitled to weigh either the evidence or the credibility of witnesses even though we may disagree with the trial court in either regard. The trial court has the witnesses before it and is able to observe them and their demeanor upon the witness stand. It is more capable of resolving questions touching upon both weight and credibility than we are. In re Palmer, 81

Wash.2d 604, 606, 503 P.2d 464 (1972)." <u>In re Sego</u>, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739–40, 513 P.2d 831, 833 (1973).

2.2 Washington State has a very clear statute pertaining to devise of encumbered property. It may not be what other states have chosen; however, it is not ambiguous.

DEVISE OR BEQUEATHAL OF PROPERTY SUBJECT TO ENCUMBRANCE.

When any real or personal property subject to a mortgage is specifically devised, the devisee shall take such property so devised subject to such mortgage unless the will provides that such mortgage be otherwise paid. The term "mortgage" as used in this section shall not include a pledge of personal property.

A charge or encumbrance upon any real or personal estate for the purpose of securing the payment of money, or the performance of any covenant or agreement, shall not be deemed a revocation of any will relating to the same estate, previously executed. The devises and legacies therein contained shall pass and take effect, subject to such charge or encumbrance.

RCW 11.12.070

RCW 11.12.70 states "[w]hen any real or personal property subject to a mortgage is specifically devised, the devisee shall take such property so devised subject to such mortgage unless the will provides that such mortgage be otherwise paid...." The will in this case does not provide a

method or designate a party to pay the mortgage remaining on the property. As such, the life estate becomes "subject to" such mortgage.

- 2.3 The case law provides that such instruction (if given) must be explicit not implicit. "[A] will provision requiring that remaindermen shall pay the expenses of the life estate is not materially different from the statutory provision that devisees of mortgaged property take the property subject to the mortgage, unless the will otherwise provided." In re Estate of Campbell, 87 Wn. App. 506, 514, 942 P.2d 1008, 1012–13 (1997)." The statute is clear, and the case law supports, the devisee takes subject to the mortgage unless Mr. Irwin Sr. provided otherwise. He did not. Ms. Kelley has been granted a life estate in such property, and in accepting such, she takes the property subject to its burdens and benefits.
- 2.4 Mr. Irwin selected the mortgage, he approved the terms of the mortgage, he was aware of the mortgage and its balance at the time he signed his will and at the time he died. The law assumes his knowledge and provides a clear statement as to the encumbrance "unless the will otherwise provided." <u>Id</u>. For this Court to read words into a will that do not exist would be to negate the testator's intent.

All courts and others concerned in the execution of last wills shall have due regard to the direction of the will, and the true intent and meaning of the testator, in all matters brought before them. RCW 11.12.230 Intent of testator controlling.

2.5 This Court has ruled that It should assume the Legislature says what it means; and means what it says.

Where "a statute is clear on its face, its meaning [should] be derived from the language of the statute alone." *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wash.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002) (citing *State v. Keller*, 143 Wash.2d 267, 276, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001)); *see also BedRoc Ltd. v. United States*, 541 U.S. 176, 183, 124 S.Ct. 1587, 158 L.Ed.2d 338 (2004). "Courts should assume the Legislature means exactly what it says" in a statute and apply it as written. *Keller*, 143 Wash.2d at 276, 19 P.3d 1030; *see also Conn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. 249, 253–54, 112 S.Ct. 1146, 117 L.Ed.2d 391 (1992); *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wash.2d 614, 625, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Statutory construction cannot be used to read additional words into the statute. *State v. Chester*, 133 Wash.2d 15, 21, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997).

Densley v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 162 Wn.2d 210, 219, 173 P.3d 885, 889 (2007)(bold added).

III. ADDITIONAL REQUEST FOR FEES

Respondent hereby renews her request for fees and costs.

- (a) Generally. If applicable law grants to a party the right to recover reasonable attorney fees or expenses on review before either the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court, the party must request the fees or expenses as provided in this rule, unless a statute specifies that the request is to be directed to the trial court.
- (j) Fees for Answering Petition for Review. If attorney fees and expenses are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing

party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review. A party seeking attorney fees and expenses should request them in the answer to the petition for review. The Supreme Court will decide whether fees are to be awarded at the time the Supreme Court denies the petition for review. If fees are awarded, the party to whom fees are awarded should submit an affidavit of fees and expenses within the time and in the manner provided in section (d).

RAP 18.1

Respondent has been the one trying to hold Ms. Kelley accountable to fulfill her duties as Personal Representative and life estate holder. Ms. Kelley has created a very expensive battle while retaining all of the estate funds to pay her mortgage and attorneys. Respondent is entitled to recover her fees and costs. The Court of Appeals has remanded the decision for fees and costs back to the trial court. We request that this Court award Respondent her costs and fees in its Order denying Its reversal; or remand for further award by the trial court.

IV. CONCLUSION

When a will is clear and unambiguous, it is not the duty of the courts to add language or manufacture the testator's intent. When a statute is clear and unambiguous, it is not the duty of courts to rewrite the language or presume the intent of the Legislature. The Petitioner is asking this Court to do both. This petition for review involves a statute that clearly states the rule that the Legislature has chosen. To reverse the trial

court's finding will have the effect of re-writing the law. There is no erroneous statement of law in this case. The law was applied to the facts by each judicial officer that examined the case. Ms. Kelley has the option of accepting the life estate with all encumbrances, or walking away. The ruling of the trial court should stand.